## State of California DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE



1300 I STREET, SUITE 125 P.O. BOX 944255 SACRAMENTO, CA 94244-2550

Public: (916) 445-9555 Telephone: (916) 322-0253 Facsimile: (916) 323-7095 E-Mail: Craig.Rust@doj.ca.gov

June 19, 2017

The Honorable Pierre N. Leval U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit 40 Foley Square New York, NY 10007

RE: State of Arkansas, et al. v. State of Delaware, No. 220146, and State of Delaware v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and State of Wisconsin, No. 220145; Consolidated Original Actions in the Supreme Court of the United States

Review of Partial Summary Judgment or Interlocutory Rulings in Original Proceedings

#### Dear Judge Leval:

On behalf of the 29 Defendant States in the above-referenced consolidated cases, we write to address a question you asked during the hearing held on June 5, 2017. Specifically, you asked whether there is a procedure for having a partial summary judgment or other interlocutory ruling reviewed by the Supreme Court prior to submission of a proposed final judgment. We respectfully submit that such a procedure exists and is regularly used by Special Masters and the Court in original jurisdiction proceedings.

In original jurisdiction proceedings, the Supreme Court typically acts after it receives a report prepared by the Special Master. Once such a report is received, the Court may order it filed and call for the parties to submit and brief any exceptions to that report within a specified period. See, e.g., Montana v. Wyoming, 559 U.S. 989 (2010). The Court generally leaves the questions of the number, subject matter, and timing of any reports to the Special Master's discretion, as it has done in this case. See Stephen M. Shapiro et al., Supreme Court Practice 652 (10th ed. 2013); Dkt. No. 31.

A prime example of a Special Master submitting a report containing a recommendation on the disposition of a motion for partial summary judgment occurred in the case of *Kansas v. Colorado* (Original No. 105). There, the Special Master bifurcated the case into liability and remedy phases and issued a report containing his findings and recommendations on issues related to the parties' liability. *Kansas v. Colorado*, 514 U.S. 673, 680 (1995). The Supreme Court reviewed this report and issued a ruling on liability. *Id.* at 680-681, 694. The Court then remanded for consideration of the appropriate remedy. *See Kansas v. Colorado*, 543 U.S. 86, 92 (2004) (describing case's procedural history).

Just last year, the Court followed a similar course in *Montana v. Wyoming and North Dakota* (Original No. 137), where it issued an order on a motion for partial summary judgment and then remanded the case to the Special Master "for determination of damages and other appropriate relief." 136 S. Ct. 1034 (Mem.) (2016). The Special Master also stayed all discovery related to the remedies phase until liability had been fully determined, as the coalition States (plus Wisconsin and Pennsylvania) have requested here. *See Montana v. Wyoming*, Case Management Plan No. 1, §§ II & VII (attached to this letter as Exhibit A).<sup>1</sup>

For the reasons stated at the June 5th hearing and in Texas's letter dated April 26, 2017, the Defendant States respectfully submit that following this precedent and bifurcating this case into separate liability and remedy phases would be the most expedient and efficient way to proceed.

Sincerely,

Craig D. Rust, Deputy Attorney General Aimee Feinberg, Deputy Solicitor General

For XAVIER BECERRA Attorney General

Counsel for the State of California

CC: Steven S. Rosenthal, Counsel For Delaware (email only)

Matthew H. Haverstick, Counsel For Pennsylvania (email only)

Misha Tseytlin, Counsel For Wisconsin (email only)

Michael Rato, Counsel for MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc. (email only)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Supreme Court has reviewed Special Master reports containing recommendations on non-dispositive motions on numerous other occasions as well. *See, e.g., South Carolina v. North Carolina*, 558 U.S. 256, 259 (2010) (reviewing Special Master's report regarding motions to intervene); *Nebraska v. Wyoming*, 515 U.S. 1, 4 (1995) (reviewing Special Master's report regarding motions to amend the pleadings).

#### In the

## **Supreme Court of the United States**

STATE OF MONTANA, Plaintiff

v.

#### STATE OF WYOMING

and

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA, Defendants

#### **CASE MANAGEMENT PLAN NO. 1**

Barton H. Thompson, Jr.
Special Master
Jerry Yang & Akiko Yamazaki Environment
& Energy Building
473 Via Ortega
MC: 4205
Stanford, California 94305

**December 20, 2011** 

## Table of Contents

I. Scope and Case Management Orders	4
II. Bifurcation	4
III. States	4
IV. Amici Curiae	
A. Status Conferences	
B. Discovery	5
C. Briefs	
D. Hearings	5
V. Filing and Service Generally	5
VI. Filing and Service of Discovery Materials	5
VII. Pre-Trial Schedule	
A. Disclosure of Montana's Expert Reports & Other Exhibits	5
B. Disclosure of Wyoming's Expert Reports & Other Exhibits	6
C. Disclosure of Montana's Rebuttal Expert Reports & Other Exhibits	6
D. Status Conferences	6
VIII. Discovery	6
A. General	6
B. Applicable Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26-37 and 45	6
C. Substantive Discovery	8
D. Bates Numbering System	
E. Privilege Logs	15
F. Confidentiality	15

G. Discovery Disputes	
H. Supplementing Discovery	17
IX. Motions	18
A. Timing of Motions	18
B. Amicus Briefs	18
C. Wyoming's Renewed Motion for Partial Summary Judgment	18
X. Pretrial Orders	18
XI. Modifications	19

#### CASE MANAGEMENT PLAN NO. 1

#### I. Scope and Case Management Orders

The Special Master will issue Case Management Orders ("CMOs") following conferences with counsel and at such other times as he deems appropriate. With respect to pretrial matters in the liability phase of the case, this Case Management Plan No. 1 ("CMP"), along with all CMOs issued during that phase, shall apply to and bind all States and Amici Curiae and may be modified only by order of the Special Master. Additional case management plans will be adopted for subsequent stages of the proceedings.

#### II. Bifurcation

The case is hereby bifurcated into two phases, a liability phase and a remedies phase. The liability phase will include a determination of whether Wyoming has violated the Yellowstone River Compact and the amount of any such violation. Matters pertaining to retrospective or prospective remedies are hereby reserved for the later remedies phase. The impact of bifurcation on discovery is specified in Section VIII below.

#### III. States

The States in this case are the State of Montana, the State of Wyoming, and the State of North Dakota ("States").

#### IV. Amici Curiae

The Amici Curiae ("Amici") in this case are currently the United States, the Northern Cheyenne Tribe, and Anadarko Petroleum Corporation. Any other person or entity may become an Amicus with the leave of the Special Master. The function of an Amicus in this case is solely to ensure full exposition of all factual and legal issues. As a friend of the court, an Amicus shall exercise its role in a circumspect and creative manner, avoiding the creation of delay, obstacles, paperwork, and duplicative effort in the development of this case. The participation of an Amicus shall be limited as set forth below, except as ordered by the Special Master upon motion for good cause shown.

#### A. Status Conferences.

An Amicus shall receive notices of, and may participate in and attend, status conferences of the States that the Special Master conducts. If the Special Master directs the States to prepare a proposed joint agenda for any status conference, an Amicus may participate in preparing the agenda if it so wishes.

#### B. Discovery.

An Amicus shall be notified and kept informed on the same service schedule as the States of all discovery to be conducted, and the States shall serve on an Amicus copies of certificates of service of all discovery requests, including interrogatories, requests for admission, requests for production of documents, and notices of depositions, and responses to such requests. Copies of discovery documents will be made available on request to an Amicus and agreement to pay any associated costs. An Amicus may attend any deposition and may obtain copies of deposition transcripts upon its request and at its expense. Any documents, models or other tangible things that are subject to the confidentiality provisions set forth herein will not be provided to an Amicus, except upon order of the Special Master.

#### C. Briefs.

According to briefing schedules set by the Special Master or this CMP, Amici may file briefs, pertaining to any factual or legal interests of the Amici, in response to any motion or brief pending before the Special Master or request for briefing by the Special Master.

#### D. Hearings.

An Amicus may attend any hearing or part thereof. If the Special Master so allows, an Amicus may present oral argument before the Special Master.

#### V. Filing and Service Generally

Filings with the Special Master and service thereof shall conform to Case Management Order No. 1, which is updated with the distribution list attached hereto as Appendix B.

#### VI. Filing and Service of Discovery Materials

In order to keep the record free of discovery material that has not become evidence, no discovery requests or notices or responses thereto or deposition transcripts shall be filed with the Special Master unless to support or oppose a dispositive motion or request for a ruling on a discovery dispute. In such event, only those portions pertinent to the purpose shall be filed. All States shall file with the Special Master certificates of service regarding all discovery requests and discovery responses.

#### VII. <u>Pre-Trial Schedule</u>

#### A. Disclosure of Montana's Expert Reports & Other Exhibits

Montana shall disclose its expert reports and other exhibits no later than October 19, 2012.

#### B. Disclosure of Wyoming's Expert Reports & Other Exhibits

Wyoming shall disclose its expert reports and other exhibits no later than November 16, 2012. The Special Master may postpone this date, upon a motion by Wyoming, if he finds that Wyoming needs additional time for good cause shown.

#### C. Disclosure of Montana's Rebuttal Expert Reports & Other Exhibits

Montana shall disclose its rebuttal expert reports and other exhibits no later than December 7, 2012. The Special Master may postpone this date, upon a motion by Montana, if he finds that Montana needs additional time for good cause shown.

#### D. Status Reports and Conferences

Beginning on February 3, 2011 and ending at the conclusion of all discovery, each party will file a progress report with the Special Master on the first Friday of each month. The progress report shall update the status of each party's discovery efforts since the last update (as well as any other actions taken pursuant to the CMP), describe any unresolved disputes, and list any further discovery anticipated during the upcoming month. In addition, the progress report shall set forth the general status of the case as it has evolved since the last progress report. The Special Master will schedule and hold status conferences as he deems necessary. Unless otherwise ordered by the Special Master, pretrial status conferences shall be held by telephone.

#### VIII. Discovery

#### A. General.

Only States may initiate discovery. Discovery shall proceed on all liability issues pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26-37 and 45, except as otherwise modified herein or by other order of the Special Master. Discovery will commence and be completed in accordance with the schedule stated herein, except as modified by any subsequent Case Management Order. Discovery on remedies issues is hereby stayed until further order, provided that, in the course of discovery undertaken solely for purposes of determining liability, the States are allowed to discover from the same source, other than another State, facts related to remedies. Appendix A lists key discovery dates and deadlines.

#### B. Applicable Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26-37 and 45.

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure applicable to discovery, as amended from time to time, shall govern the proceedings before the Special Master with the following exceptions or as otherwise modified in this order:

#### 1. Rule 26(a)(1).

The disclosures required in Rule 26(a)(1) shall not apply. Instead each State shall:

- (a) Provide the name, address and telephone number of each individual, state, local and federal government agency, organization, political subdivision or other entity likely to have discoverable information relevant to disputed facts alleged with particularity in the pleadings, identifying separately the subjects of the information as to each person and entity listed.
- (b) Provide the name of any person who may be used at trial to present evidence.
- (c) Provide a copy of or a description by category and location of all documents, data compilations, and tangible things in the States' possession, custody, or control, that are relevant to disputed facts. When providing copies of documents as part of their disclosures, the States shall provide them in electronic form unless it is unduly burdensome or impossible to provide readable copies in electronic form. Documents not disclosed in electronic form shall be disclosed in paper form.

#### 2. Rule 26(a)(2) - 26(a)(4).

These portions of Rule 26 shall be applicable, except that (1) all time schedules and deadlines will be determined by the Special Master, and (2) the provisions of Rule 26(a)(4) requiring the filing of documents with the court shall not apply. The filing of all documents with the Special Master shall be governed by this CMP.

#### 3. Rule 26(b)(5).

Rule 26(b)(5) shall not apply because the substance and timing of privilege logs is covered by Section VIII.E of this CMP.

#### 4. Rule 26(c).

Rule 26(c) shall apply, except to the extent modified by Section VIII.E of this CMP, Resolution of Discovery Disputes and Motions to quash and Seek Protective Orders.

#### 5. Rule 26(d).

Rule 26(d) shall not apply. Unless the Special Master, for the convenience of the States and witnesses and in the interest of justice, orders otherwise, methods of discovery may be used in any sequence, and the fact that a State is conducting discovery, whether by deposition or otherwise, shall not operate to delay any other State's discovery.

#### 6. Rule 26(f).

Rule 26(f) shall not apply.

#### 7. Rules 30(a)(2), Rule 31(a)(2), Rule 33 (a)(1).

Each State is limited to ten depositions of North Dakota and ten depositions of each Amicus. Montana and Wyoming are limited in the number of interrogatories that may be propounded to North Dakota as provided in Rule 33(a)(1). The number of depositions and interrogatories between Montana and Wyoming are not limited.

#### 8. Rule 32(a)(4)(B).

The 100-mile rule contained in Rule 32(a)(4)(B) shall not apply. See Rule 45, infra.

#### 9. Rule 45.

Except as otherwise explicitly provided in this CMP, Rule 45 shall govern discovery from non-States other than the United States and shall apply with the exception that the subpoena power will not be limited geographically by the 100-mile rule in Rule 45(b)(2)(B). Requests for non-States other than the United States to produce documents or to permit inspection are governed by Rule 34(C) and Section VIII.C.1(e)(ii) of this CMP. Discovery from the United States is governed by Sections VIII.C.1(e)(i) and VIII.C.2 of this CMP. Counsel of Record for the States are authorized to issue subpoenas as provided in Rule 45(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The States and Amici will cooperate in securing the attendance of witnesses for deposition and will give reasonable notice if a witness will require a subpoena.

#### C. Substantive Discovery.

Substantive discovery shall proceed promptly and will be concluded as expeditiously as reasonably practicable. All discovery shall be initiated in sufficient time to allow responses to be served and discovery completed within the deadlines specified in the CMP.

#### 1. Written Discovery.

Written discovery shall consist of the following and follow the schedule set forth herein unless modified by order of the Special Master.

- (a) *Initial disclosures*. The States shall complete the initial disclosures as provided in Section VIII.B.1 no later than January 16, 2012.
- (b) *Interrogatories*. Beginning on January 16, 2012, a State may serve interrogatories upon other States. Each State served with interrogatories shall have 30

days to serve objections and 45 days from the date of service to serve answers, unless otherwise agreed by the propounder and respondent.

- (c) Joint Document Production Order. Montana and Wyoming shall comply with the provisions of the Joint Document Production Order, signed by the Special Master concurrently with this CMP and dated December 20, 2011.
- (d) Requests for Documents/Inspections to States. Beginning on January 16, 2012, each State may serve requests for production of documents/requests for inspections on any other State. Any State upon which requests for production of documents/requests for inspections are served shall have 30 days within which to make objections and 60 days from the date of service within which to complete full production subject to unresolved objections, unless otherwise agreed by the propounder and respondent.
  - (e) Requests for Documents/Inspections to Non-States.
  - i. Requests Made to Agencies of the United States. Each State may serve on agencies of the United States requests for production of documents/requests for inspections starting immediately upon the date of this CMP. The States shall obtain documents from agencies of the United States in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act and the agencies' regulations implementing that Act, provided that any dispute about the production of documents by an agency of the United States shall be submitted to the Special Master for informal, nonbinding mediation prior to filing an action in federal district court.

For document and inspection requests made to agencies of the United States, the States may confer with the United States for the purpose of developing a protocol to facilitate and coordinate production, avoid duplicative inquiries, and ensure that the States have equal access to information that is subject to disclosure. Unless and until such a protocol is adopted by the States and approved by the Special Master, requests for documents and inspections made of any agency of the United States shall be governed by the following procedures:

- (1) The requesting State shall provide written notice of its request to review and copy documents to the agency and to the other States, with a copy to the designated representative of the United States, identifying the subject matter with sufficient specificity as to allow the agency to locate pertinent documents, and proposing a time and location to review the documents. The requesting State shall be responsible for coordinating the document review with the agency and the other States.
- (2) The agency will make available documents in accordance with and to the extent provided by the Freedom of Information Act and applicable regulations implementing that Act, and may seek clarification

of the request from the requesting State if there is some question about the subject matter or large volumes are involved.

- (3) The requesting State and any other State desiring copies of particular documents shall make arrangements with the agency either to copy the documents in-house or to contract with a private, local firm to copy the documents, and will pay associated costs.
- (4) At the option of the United States, an index or copy of each document copied by a State will be provided to the agency without charge so that it may have a record of what has been produced.
- ii. Requests Made of Other Non-States. After the States have provided their initial disclosures, each State may serve requests for production of documents/requests for inspection on non-States as provided for in Rules 34(c) and 45 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and in this CMP. Any non-State upon which a request for production of documents/request for inspection is served shall have 30 days within which to make objections and 60 days from the date of service within which to complete full production subject to unresolved objections, unless otherwise agreed by the propounder and respondent.
- (f) Requests to Admit. After the States have provided their initial disclosures a State may serve requests for admission on another State. Responses to request for admission shall be served within 30 days of service of the request.
- (g) Written Discovery Deadline. All written discovery shall be propounded no later than December 21, 2012.

#### 2. <u>Deposition Discovery.</u>

Upon completion of all States' initial disclosures, deposition discovery may commence as provided herein. The States may take the depositions of non-States pursuant to Rule 45 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, except that requests for the testimony of employees of the United States shall be made and processed in accordance with the applicable *Touhy* regulations of the relevant department or agency (for the Department of the Interior, 43 C.F.R. §§ 2.80 et seq.). Deposition guidelines are as follows:

- (a) Cooperation. Counsel will cooperate with each other and exercise civility in all aspects of this litigation.
- (b) Waiver Stipulations. Unless contrary to an order of the Special Master, the States (and when appropriate, a non-State witness) may stipulate, in a suitable writing, to alter, amend, or modify any practice relating to noticing, conducting, or filing a deposition. Stipulations for any discovery beyond discovery cutoffs or deadlines set by the Special Master are not valid without approval of the Special Master.

- (c) Scheduling. Except in extraordinary circumstances, noticing counsel shall consult in advance with counsel for the deponent, if any, and with opposing counsel, so as to schedule depositions at mutually convenient times and places.
- (d) Attendance. Unless otherwise ordered under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c), depositions may be attended by counsel of record, members and employees of their firms, attorneys specially engaged by a State for purposes of the deposition, the States or the representative of a State, including counsel from the offices of the respective attorneys general, Amici or the representatives of Amici, counsel for the deponent, and expert consultants or witnesses. During examination of a deponent about any document stamped "Confidential S.Ct. 137" or its confidential contents, persons to whom disclosure is not authorized under section VIII.F of this CMP shall be excluded.

#### (e) Conduct.

- i. Examination. Ordinarily, each State should designate one attorney to conduct the principal examination of the deponent. Examination by other attorneys should be limited to situations where designated counsel must leave before the deposition is completed or is otherwise incapacitated. Counsel for the States are not limited in the scope of their questions at a deposition by the scope of the questions propounded by the counsel for the State that requested the deposition. Counsel for an Amicus may not examine a deponent unless (1) the witness is a current or former officer, director, employee, or representative of the Amicus, in which case counsel for that Amicus may examine the deponent, or (2) counsel for the States in attendance at the deposition agree to the examination.
- ii. Objections and Directions Not to Answer. Counsel shall comply with Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2). When a claim of privilege is made, the witness should nevertheless answer questions relevant to the existence, extent or waiver of the privilege, including the date of a communication, who made the statement, to whom and in whose presence the statement was made, other persons to whom the contents of the statement have been disclosed, and the general subject matter of the statement, unless such information is itself privileged.
- iii. *Time Limitations*. Depositions must be concluded within a reasonable time limit. At the time of notification, the noticing State will estimate the reasonable amount of time needed for the deposition. In the event any other State or counsel for the deponent considers the proposed amount of time to be unreasonable, the dispute, if unresolved, may be referred to the Special Master pursuant to section VIII.G.1 of this CMP. Except with prior agreement of counsel or written approval of the Special Master, no deposition may last longer than three (3) eight (8) hour days, provided that no such agreement of counsel may extend any discovery deadline. Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d)(1) shall not apply.

iv. Continuation of Deposition. If a deposition is not finished by the end of the business day, it will continue on the following business day and each business day thereafter, subject to the availability of the witness and time limitations otherwise set by agreement or order of the Special Master. The States may agree to continue or suspend a deposition until a mutually agreed upon later date, provided that the later date is within any discovery deadline set by the Special Master.

#### (f) Documents.

- i. Production of Documents. If a non-State witness is believed to have documents not previously produced, a subpoena to produce documents should be served at least sixty (60) days before the scheduled deposition. Arrangements should be made to permit inspection of the documents by all States before the deposition begins. Any documents produced in such a manner should be Bates numbered pursuant to section VIII.D of the CMP.
- ii. Copies. Extra copies of documents about which counsel expects to question the deponent shall be provided to opposing counsel and the deponent at the time of the deposition.
- (g) Videotaped Depositions. By request in its notice of a deposition, a State may record the deposition as permitted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(b)(3) and (4).
  - i. Video Operator. The operator(s) of the videotape recording equipment shall be subject to the provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 28(c). At the commencement of the deposition, the operator(s) shall swear or affirm to record the proceedings fairly and accurately.
  - ii. Attendance. Each witness and each examining attorney shall be identified on camera at the commencement of the deposition. All others present at the deposition shall be identified off-camera. Thereafter, generally speaking, only the deponent (and demonstrative materials used during the deposition) will be videotaped.
  - iii. Standards. The deposition will be conducted in a manner to replicate, to the extent feasible, the presentation of evidence at a trial. Unless physically incapacitated, the deponent shall be seated at a table or in a witness box other than when reviewing or presenting demonstrative materials for which a change in position is needed. The deposition should be conducted in a neutral setting, against a solid background, with only such lighting as is required for accurate video recording. Lighting, camera angles, lens setting, and field of view will be changed only as necessary to record accurately the natural body movements of the deponent or to portray exhibit and materials used during the deposition. Sound levels will be altered only as necessary to record satisfactorily

the voices of counsel and the deponent. No eating or smoking by deponents or counsel should occur during the deposition.

- iv. *Interruptions*. The videotape shall run continuously throughout the active conduct of the deposition. Videotape recording will be suspended during agreed "off the record" discussions.
- v. *Index*. The videotape operator shall use a counter on the recording equipment and, after completion of the deposition shall prepare a log, cross-referenced to counter numbers. The log shall identify on the tape where: examination by different counsel begins and ends; objections are made and examination resumes; record certifications are requested; exhibits are identified; any interruption of continuous tape recording occurs, and the reason for the interruption, whether for recesses, "off the record" discussion, mechanical failure, or otherwise.
- vi. *Filing*. The operator shall send the original videotape in its original condition to the deposing State in a sealed envelope. No part of a videotaped deposition shall be released or made available to any member of the public or to any unauthorized person, whether marked "Confidential" or not.
- vii. Objections. Requests for pretrial ruling on the admissibility of evidence obtained during a videotaped deposition shall be accompanied by appropriate pages of the written transcript. Each issue will be separately submitted. If needed for a ruling, a copy of the videotape and equipment for viewing the tape (if necessary) shall also be made available to the Special Master.
- (h) Telephonic Depositions. By stating in the deposition notice that it wants to conduct the deposition by telephone, a State shall be deemed to have moved for an order under Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(b)(4). Notice of a telephonic deposition shall be served at least thirty (30) days before the deposition. Unless an objection is filed and served at least twenty (20) days before the deposition, the motion shall be deemed to have been granted. Other States may examine the deponent telephonically or in person. All persons present with the deponent shall be identified in the deposition and shall not by word, or otherwise, coach or suggest answers to the deponent.
- (i) Use. Under the conditions prescribed in Fed. R. Civ. P. 32(a)(1) to (4), as otherwise permitted by the Federal Rules of Evidence, or as agreed to by the States with approval of the Special Master, depositions may be used against any State.
- (j) Supplemental Depositions. To the extent a deponent acquires new information, forms new opinions, or grounds to support previous opinions, any State may move for a supplemental deposition. Such motion shall be made for good cause shown within thirty (30) days of a State's learning of the new information, opinion or grounds from supplemental discovery responses provided under Section VIII.H of this CMP or any other source. If permitted, the supplemental deposition shall be treated as the

resumption of the deposition previously taken, but shall not exceed one (1) eight (8) hour day in length. Supplemental depositions shall not be repetitive of prior examination and repetition of substantially the same examination as previously conducted may result in imposition of monetary and other sanctions.

- (k) Rulings. Rulings on objections made during a deposition will be resolved according to the procedure set forth in Section VIII.G.2 of the CMP.
- (l) Deposition Deadline. All depositions shall be completed no later than January 25, 2013.

#### 3. Expert Reports.

- (a) The State of Montana shall provide a disclosure of expert testimony of its expert witnesses, containing the elements set forth in Rule 26(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, no later than the date provided in Section VII.A above. The State of Wyoming shall not seek such information through prior discovery. The State of Montana may, in its own discretion, provide such disclosure at an earlier time. On or before November 2, 2012, Wyoming shall file with the Special Master its objections, if any, to the adequacy of Montana's expert witness disclosures.
- (b) The State of Wyoming shall provide a disclosure of expert testimony of its expert witnesses, containing the elements set forth in Rule 26(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, no later than the date provided in Section VII.B above. The State of Montana shall not seek the content of Wyoming's disclosure through prior discovery. The State of Wyoming may, in its own discretion, provide such disclosure at an earlier time. On or before November 30, 2012, Montana shall file with the Special Master its objections, if any, to the adequacy of Wyoming's expert witness disclosures.
- (c) The State of Montana shall disclose the rebuttal testimony of its existing expert or additional expert witnesses, containing the elements set forth in Rule 26(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, no later than the date provided in Section VII.C above. On or before December 21, 2012, Wyoming shall file with the Special Master its objections, if any, to the adequacy of Montana's rebuttal expert witness disclosures.
  - (d) Draft expert reports shall not be discoverable.
- (e) The parties shall not be required to disclose the identity or opinions of expert witnesses on remedies issues while the stay of discovery of such issues is in effect.

#### D. Bates Numbering System.

All documents produced in this case shall bear a distinctive Bates Number. Each State shall begin each Bates number with the two letter abbreviation for the state as designated by the United States Postal Service. For example, a Montana Bates-numbered document will have the form MT 000000. All documents produced by non-States shall

state the identity of the non-State by proper name or recognized abbreviation before the Bates number. No State shall use at a deposition any document that has not been Bates-numbered and produced, except for impeachment or other good cause shown.

#### E. Privilege Logs.

If a State withholds any written information (in hard copy or electronic form) on the ground of privilege, it shall provide a privilege log to opposing counsel. These privilege logs shall set forth the following information: (1) author's name, place of employment and job title; (2) site of document; (3) addressee's name, place of employment and job title; (4) recipient's name, place of employment and job title, if different than that of addressee; (5) general subject matter of document; and (6) nature of privilege claimed. Thereafter, any privilege log shall be supplemented to include any documents that are subsequently designated privileged by counsel.

#### F. Confidentiality.

All documents, models or other tangible things containing a trade secret or other information made confidential by law may be designated "Confidential," so long as the confidentiality of such documents has not been earlier waived. Such documents or portions of documents will be designated, after review by counsel for the producing person or entity, by stamping "Confidential - S.Ct. 137" on each page. Any State may contest the designation of a document as "Confidential," or request that a document not otherwise covered by this CMP be considered confidential, by applying to the Special Master for a ruling. In either event, counsel shall first make a good faith effort to resolve the issue. The person or entity requesting confidentiality shall have the burden of showing that such designation is appropriate. Upon pretrial deposition, or within ten (10) business days after receipt of the transcript, a person or entity may designate as confidential any appropriate information and such designation shall be served on all counsel. No confidentiality objection need be made at a deposition and shall not be a ground for a direction or refusal to answer, but counsel may indicate such designation at the time and the States shall govern themselves accordingly. Depositions and transcripts will be considered to be confidential until expiration of the ten (10)-day period and thereafter as to any part or all so designated. Any individual not authorized by this CMP to be a recipient of confidential information may be excluded from a deposition while such information is being elicited.

Confidential documents or information subject to this CMP may not be disclosed to or used by anyone except those hereby authorized and by them only in the context of this case. Such individuals shall include counsel, the States' specifically authorized employees, experts, and fact witnesses, together with such others as are approved by the Special Master. Each individual who is permitted to see such confidential documents, or given access to such confidential information, shall be bound to observe the provisions of this CMP with respect to all documents and information produced through these proceedings by signing a Non-Disclosure Agreement in a form agreed upon by the States or approved by the Special Master if the States cannot agree. The Non-Disclosure

Agreement shall include an agreement to submit to the Special Master's jurisdiction for enforcement of this portion of the CMP and to return all such designated documents and information promptly at the end of the litigation.

#### G. Discovery Disputes.

Before bringing a discovery dispute to the attention of the Special Master, concerned persons or entities shall confer in an attempt to resolve the dispute. If the conferences do not resolve the dispute, the procedure for resolving the discovery dispute shall be as follows:

#### 1. Written discovery disputes.

- (a) Failure to timely respond to written discovery requests. In the event that timely responses to written interrogatories or document requests are not forthcoming, the proponent of the discovery should promptly file a motion to compel, which shall set forth the date the discovery was served and the due date for the responses, together with an averment of the default. No brief or copy of the interrogatories or document requests should accompany the motion. Upon receipt of such a motion, the Special Master, without waiting for a response, may enter an order directing the discovery to be provided by a certain date and imposing such sanctions as he deems appropriate.
- (b) Disputes regarding discovery objections or adequacy of responses. In the event of a discovery dispute in contrast to a default -- arising by reason of the respondent's objections or concerning the adequacy of responses to interrogatories, document requests, requests to inspect, or requests to admit, the parties to the dispute shall promptly and in good faith exert every reasonable effort to resolve the differences. Where objections are made, the objecting party shall provide all other discovery that such party does not consider to be objectionable. As a last resort, any unresolved dispute shall be submitted to the Special Master as follows:
  - i. The party seeking resolution of a dispute will send an email to the Special Master's assistant, attaching a copy of the pertinent discovery request and response or objection. The email may also contain a short, summary statement of each party's position, drafted or approved by that party, and not to exceed 100 words each. The Special Master will then schedule a telephone call with counsel to try to resolve the dispute.
  - ii. If the dispute is not resolved telephonically, the parties shall make a written submission as instructed by the Special Master.

#### 2. Deposition disputes.

(a) General Procedures. Except as is expressly provided in paragraph (b) below, discovery disputes that arise during a deposition shall be resolved by submission

to the Special Master, according to the same procedure set forth in paragraph VIII.G.1(b) governing disputes in regard to the adequacy of responses to written discovery.

- (b) Disputes That Require Immediate Resolution. Where a dispute arises at a deposition and a party to the dispute believes an immediate resolution is necessary to avoid the rescheduling of the deposition or a significant disruption of the discovery schedule, the Special Master must be telephoned.
  - i. If the Special Master is available and a telephone conference is held, the ruling of the Special Master shall be recorded in the deposition. The deposition shall proceed according to such ruling or direction. If the ruling or direction is that a witness must answer a question or questions despite an objection based upon claim of privilege or work product, the objecting party shall not be deemed to have withdrawn or waived its objection.
  - ii. If the Special Master is not available by telephone during the deposition, the dispute shall be noted for the record and the deposition shall proceed with respect to all other issues. Thereafter, the dispute shall be presented to the Special Master as provided in Section VIII.G.1(b) above.
- (c) Disputes Not to End Deposition. Under no circumstances shall any person or entity refuse to continue with a deposition with respect to other subjects because of the unavailability of the Special Master to resolve a dispute telephonically.

#### 3. Motions to Quash or for Protective Orders.

The following procedures are to be employed in situations where noticed or subpoenaed persons or entities desire to move to quash a deposition notice or subpoena or seek a protective order from the demand of a subpoena.

- (a) Subpoenaed entities or persons that are States. If the subpoenaed entity or person is a State or the employee of a State, then the entity or person must seek appropriate relief from the Special Master pursuant to the procedures for resolving written discovery disputes in Section VIII.G.1(b) above.
- (b) Subpoenaed entities or persons who are not States. When a State subpoenas a person or entity that is not a State, the State issuing the subpoena should serve upon the subpoenaed person or entity, along with the subpoena, a copy of this CMP. The subpoenaed person or entity may seek relief under this CMP, by submitting the dispute to the Special Master pursuant to the procedures for resolving written discovery disputes in Section VIII.G.1(b).

#### H. Supplementing Discovery.

Recognizing that any State is under a duty to amend a prior response to an interrogatory, request for production or inspection, or request for admission if the State

learns that the response is in some material respect incomplete or incorrect, the States shall undertake a regularly scheduled supplementation of discovery responses three (3) months from the original due date of each discovery request and at each three (3) month period thereafter. It will satisfy the duty of supplementation if the State identifies only those specific responses that are supplemented. It is not necessary to restate each discovery response if there is no information to supplement, amend or modify. Supplementation of written discovery will not be required to the extent the same information has been provided by subsequent deposition, provided the fact of supplementation is noted at the time of the deposition. Supplementation of expert reports pursuant to Rule 26(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is required to the extent that an expert has formed additional opinions or additional grounds to support previous opinions that have not been provided by way of expert report or deposition testimony. The duty to supplement expert reports includes opinions or grounds to support previous opinions formed after an expert has been deposed. Supplementation of deposition testimony of any witness other than an expert is not required. If there is no need to supplement, there is no need to file negative reports at a three month interval.

#### IX. Motions

#### A. Timing of Motions.

Unless otherwise ordered by the Special Master or specified in this CMP, responses to all motions, both dispositive and non-dispositive, shall be served within 30 days after service of the motion, and replies shall be served within 15 days of service of responses. Motions may be filed at any time up to and until March 15, 2013.

#### B. Amicus Briefs.

An Amicus shall file any response on or before the due date for responses, whether supporting or opposing the motion. If an Amicus, at the time a response is due, files a brief in support of a motion, the responding State shall be allowed 15 days to respond to the Amicus brief.

#### C. Wyoming's Renewed Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

If Wyoming chooses to renew its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (Preclusion of Liability for 1952-2003 and 2005), Wyoming shall file its renewed motion on or before June 15, 2012. Montana shall file its response on or before July 13, 2012. Wyoming shall file its reply on or before July 27, 2012.

#### X. Pretrial Orders

A final pretrial order will be issued following the completion of all discovery and resolution of any pending dispositive motions, whichever is later. The final pretrial order will contain the information required by Rule 16 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

#### XI. Modifications

This CMP may be modified only by order of the Special Master.

Barton H. Thompson, Jr. Special Master

Woods Institute
Jerry Yang & Akiko Yamazaki Environment
& Energy Building – MC 4205
473 Via Ortega
Stanford, California 94305

# Appendix A Significant Dates & Deadlines

Jan. 16, 2012	Initial Disclosures (¶ VIII.C.1.a) Written discovery can begin (¶ VIII.C.1.b) Depositions can be noticed (¶ VIII.C.2)
June 15, 2012	Deadline for Wyoming's renewed Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (¶ IX.C)
July 13, 2012	Deadline for Montana's Response to Wyoming's renewed motion (¶ IX.C)
July 27, 2012	Deadline for Wyoming's Response in support of its renewed motion (¶ IX.C)
Oct. 19, 2012	Disclosure of Montana's expert reports (¶ VII.A)
Nov. 16, 2012	Disclosure of Wyoming's expert reports (¶ VII.B)
Dec. 7, 2012	Disclosure of Montana's rebuttal expert reports (¶ VII.C)
Dec. 21, 2012	Last day for propounding written discovery (¶ VIII.C.1.f)
Jan. 25, 2013	Last day for depositions (¶ VIII.C.2.1)
March 15, 2013	Final date for motions (¶ IX.A)

# Appendix B Montana v. Wyoming & North Dakota, No. 137, Orig. Distribution List for Service of Documents and E-mail Filed with the Special Master

#### State of Montana

John B. Draper, Counsel of Record Jeffrey J. Wechsler Montgomery & Andrews, P.A. 325 Paseo de Peralta Santa Fe, NM 87501 505-986-2525 <a href="mailto:idealto:jdraper@montand.com">idealto:jdraper@montand.com</a> <a href="mailto:jwechsler@montand.com">jwechsler@montand.com</a>

Jennifer Anders Montana Attorney General's Office 215 North Sanders P. O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 janders@mt.gov

#### State of North Dakota

Charles M. Carvell, Counsel of Record North Dakota Attorney General's Office 500 North Ninth Street Bismarck, ND 58501-4509 ccarvell@nd.gov

#### **Northern Cheyenne Tribe**

Jeanne S. Whiteing
Attorney at Law1007 Pearl Street, Suite
220
Boulder, CO 80302
(303) 444-2549
jwhiteing@whiteinglaw.com

#### State of Wyoming

Peter K. Michael, Counsel of Record
Jay Jerde
David J. Willms
Wyoming Attorney General's Office 124 Capitol
Building
Cheyenne, WY 82002
(307) 777-6196
pmicha@state.wy.us
jjerde@state.wy.us
dwillm@state.wy.us

#### **United States**

William M. Jay
Office of the Solicitor General
United States Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 514-8976
william.m.jay@usdoj.gov

James J. DuBois
United States Department of Justice
Environmental and Natural Resources
Division, Natural Resources Section
1961 Stout Street, 8<sup>th</sup> Floor
Denver, CO 80294
(303) 844-1375
james.dubois@usdoj.gov

#### **Anadarko**

Michael B. Wigmore Bingham McCutchen LLP 2020 K Street N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006-1806 (202) 373-6792 michael.wigmore@bingham.com

James J. Dragna
Bingham McCutchen LLP
355 South Grand Avenue Suite 4400
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3106
(213) 680-6436
jim.dragna@bingham.com

#### **Special Master**

Barton H. Thompson, Jr.
Susan Carter, Assistant
Jerry Yang and Akiko Yamazaki
Environment & Energy Bldg., C-4205
473 via Ortega
Stanford, CA 94305-4205
(650) 721-1488
susan.carter@stanford.edu